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MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD 25 Juiy 2013

SUBJECT: Allegations of Inappropriate Student/Faculty Interactions off the USU Campus

1.

The following document represents an order of events that became aware to me over the past several days
regarding the Operational Emergency Medicine Skills Cowrse (OEMS) course taught by Deployment
Medicine International (DMI), The facts are what USU School of Medicine students told me to the best
of my recollection. 1 was not taking detailed notes. 1 did not prompt any students or ask any probative
questions. This is a compilation of events (hat were conveyed to e by student class leadership and
students making allegations against Dr. John Hagmaun a comractcd instructor with DMI. | believe the
students came 1o me know ng student advocate.

On 23 July [ was asked by or a privale meeling. We
went 10 my office where [ B told me the foliowing: fellow students had a hard time passing a
foley catheter into (BN EERA bladder. It took multiple attempts with different style devices. When the
training was complete, Dr Hagmann asked 30 BB to stay behind. Dr. Hagmann expressed medical
concern over the difficult passage of a foley on a relatively young male. Dr, Hagmann recommended that
he examine [0 ERRE it was late in the evening after 2200 hours. No other students were present. Jt
seemed strange to [ [[RRE but he verbaily consented, Dr. Hagmann did a GU exam on (150 RS (o
include a rectal exam that seemed overly lengthy. Dr Hagmann then asked [l 8 if he wanted to
perform a GU and rectal exam on him. RN ERSE was extremely uncomfortable, and he politely
declined. [0 EEREN them told a similar incident involving an HPSP student at one of Dr. Hagmann's
courses. [ [ERREY stated he would contact this HPSP student and ask the HPSP student if he also
wanted 10 talk with me.

R RN [EEREERN is a first vear medical student at UISU, who had previously worked with DM as a
civilian. [N [EEREERN is a uustworthy and respected class leader who was instrumental in arranging
Summer Operational Experiences at the JFKSWC in Fort Bragg for 9 of his classmates. (revision 9 Oc!
2013, 1 asked EE between classes if we could speak privately. He agreed. | did not disclose
names or circumstances to (RN IR ERREEN was unaware of any guestionable activities or
inpropriaties by Dr. Hagmann, in the approximate onc year thal he worked for DML.) At this point, the
examination on RN I was indicated but done in an inappropriate fashion at an inappropriate time.
I R was an isolated eveut at this time. USU students have been attending DM courses for years
and Dr. Hagmann has been teaching OEMS since the early 1990s while he was still on active duty
stationed at USU. All the feedback received from students and faculty members over the past several
years has been overwhelmingly positive

At approximately 1330 on 24 July 1 called I FESATRNIRNE: medical student at the]{BIGILDIN

stated the following: he was alone in the residence with
Dr. Hagmann. All the other OEMS students departed because it was the end of the course. He was stll
present because he was doing the follow-on Altinade Medicine Course with Dr Hagmann. We went to
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cinner and had several alcobolic drinks. On the way home, Dr. Hagmann asked [ (EENEEH if e
wanted 10 practice rectal exams when we got back 1o the residence. [IERIRNIRAE declined the offer. Dr.
Hagmann then asked (R MARSEEN if he could videotape a GU exam on him because he was
uncircumcised, Dr, Hagiann stated that he only has video of a GU exam on a circumcised male. (TR0
[EREEN again declined the offer. Dr. Hagmann was very persistent and asked several more times. [
EEREER reluctantly said “yes” feeling obligated that he was allowed 10 atiend this course free of charpe.
) (R regrected his decision afterward . RN [ERRERN stated that he had copies of the video on his
iPad. [0 EEREEN has not contacted anyone to include axthorities other than [l EREM 20d me. He
stated that be felt comfortable speaking to e because, he knew of me fr the
Emergency Medicine consultant to the Surgeon General, and through [l who befriended him in
the Alttude Medicine Course.

5. Immediate!y after getting off the phone with [ [JRSERYN | walked into the office of the MEM
Exceutive Officer, LTC(Ret) (55 EEREERN who was talking with [[RR{R [ENEE Both are close
trusted colleagues, | told them a brief synopsis of what | recently heard, Both %mﬁd,
“You know what vou have to do.” T did know what needer 1o he deme We called
EBRNEERE the MEM Department Chair. COL [[RIIRRE L1 C(Re) [[EIERTN L 1C ESEESE and |
agrecd on a plan of action. CO1. [IEREERE would call tbe office of General Counsel and I would easure
that Dr. Hagmann had no unsupervised contact with any students. At approximately 1600, LTC

me for the supervision of the medical students. | joined a meeting already in progress
with t th Actizg Dean for the SOM [E RGN e
Coungel, LTC(Ret) and COL (MERERRM (via telecom). We agreed on a plan of action. 1)

Terminate the OEMS course ar USU at 0800 on 26 July and 2) Ensure the salety of our students until Dr,
Hagmann had vacated USU. At approximately 1700 I briefly updeted the SOM Commandant and
Brigade Cornmander. [ then immediately proceeded to the Lecrure Room D, asked Dr Haginann and all
non-USU personnel to please allow the Commandant of Students, CDR RS [[REE and me= an
opportunity to address the SOM stadents alone. Nothing was told to the students about the
circumstances; however, 1 addressed the 1ssve of fralemization between students and faculty members 1o
ensure that none of them would interact with Dr. Hagmann or any DMI employees until action could be
tzken the following momiag. [ also sent & similar message regarding officer conduct and fratemization to
the entire class of 2016 with the inient of rot setting off any alarms pentaining 1o the OEMS course.

6. On 25 July at 0700, [ again met with all the members mentioned above to create a detailed plan of action.
AL OBO0, prior to the start of the day’s training, | asked Dr. Hagmann to jein me in COL [IERTANN
office. Maj [ERSERRY was also present. Dr. Hagmann was teld that the course was heing terminated
indefinitely until aliegations could be investigated. The details of the allegations were not disclosed. At
0820 COL [FTRRPEW and | addressed the entire class apnlogizing for terminating the OEMS course due
to “unforeseen circumstances™ at USU and for all USU students. We then asked the USU students to
remain in the classroom and requested that all non-USU students and the one DMI instrucior other than
Dr. Hagmann go to a nearby conference room, | instructed the medical students that cach would be
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mnterviewed by a senior USU faculty member who would ask them several open-ended questions drafied
by the Office of Genera inating the USU faculty imterviewers | received a text
message at 0855 fzmtw‘; all the non-USU smudents and nne DMI employee known
only as “Shorty™ abruptly left the conference room and vacated the building before COL. [IEREAREN and 1
could taik 1o them directly.

7. 1 was one of the faculty members Interviewing students. At approximately 0930, 1 hed an hour discussion
with -_- She was extremely upset as she told me: Dr. Hagimann gave one of the USU
medical students (name not-disclosed) a dose of ketamine and them attempted to perform a penile block
on the clearly impaired studen!. The impaired student was able to repeated say he did not want the
procedure; however, Dr. Hagmann did not stop unti| [l EEREEN clevated the issve and insisted they
stop. [ BEERERH then stayed with the impaired medical student until he recovered. The undisclosed
medical student subsequently thanked [ [RSERY and hated to think what would have happened were
she not there 1o help him. [0 WEEREEY then felt ostracized for the remainder or the course and was
viewed as a non-team player for the remainder of her course.

8. Over the course of the day [ was also made aware that Dr. Hagmann was not only impairing students
with ketamine. He was also coercing all shidente (inchiding thage who da not drink alcohel) to take part
in a cognitive laboratory where they drank approximately 5 shots of bourbon or rum followed by beer
and ketamine, Over the course of the last 36 hours and the information influx, | do not recall which
student told me about the cognitive lab,

9. There have been no allegations made against any DMI employees other then Dr. Hagmann

10. All the above is true and accurate to the best of my recgllection 1 frec 10 contact the

undersigned o« [RNANNINEAMENIN or commercial

] [
MD

COL, MC, USA
Vice Chair for Emergency Medicine
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. A [ _ , WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER CATH-

On or about 1304 hrs on COetoher st 2003 § had and appointment with Cﬁlmﬂl AFRRI. He imroduced himeclf as the
Investigation officer duly appeinted by Dr, Rice (o investigate the administration and operation of the Operational Emergency
iedicine Skills course, COI tated that he would take notes in a question and answer formal aied then transcribe these noles
irte this forim for my review and at & later time e would come back to sign with me 88 my sworn stalement. He stated this
invcﬁliiaﬁﬂn was 1o meet, in general, the requirements of AR50, the Navy JAGMAN, and the AF Command Directed Inquines.

COL state:d that his inten! in interviewing me was to altermpt to answer questions rezarding the relationship the Uniforimed
Services Universily has or had with Dr. John Hagmean as well as other adminisirative questions. He stated that he had read the
statement | had provided and 1 pointed out a tvpographical error attributing knowledee to R0 IR that he did not in fact have.
COERR 150 recommend that § rexlse my original statement as it pertaing 1(* because it was unclear how, where,
why 1 went 10 N CO lated he notice that as well,

0. How did gel brovght into the typed memorandum?

A knew BEE worked with DMI in the past and | asked him if be knew of anything wmssal of unprofess:onal had eecurred
while he werked {or DML He soid no.

Q. What was your relalionship witl Dr Hagmann?

Au He was faculty when | was a medieal soudent at USUL 've seen him in passing gver the years mostly sl SOMA meetings, In 2012
fhe hosted the OEMS conrse here 2t USLL

2 How long have vou been faculty ag USUT

AL T've been here since 2006,

) was 2012 the fiest ime GEMS was tonghi at USLT

A e allowed studems 1o 2o (o s outside course previous 1o that, In what capacity | am unaware.

) Were you the course coordinator?

AL, | don't know who was

Q. Wihat 15 your opinion about the administeation of the OEMS course?

A.‘tlnndad CEMS when he was with AFS0C. He wanted (o bring the course to USU. He madz all the coordination to
my knowledge. | don't kngw who or how the selection process for the sy ¢ wis # lead madical student each of
the last twao years. This year it was [0 [ERIRS Last year it was These folks did ali the coordination
1o attend this course, 1 don’t know whether it was Hagmann, [ERRE] o the stedent eoardimator wha made the salection of the
medical student TAs. 1was nat invelved with the selection.

O3 [id you ever atlend @ department mesting that discussed the content of that coorse?

A, When the new curricuiumm came and we reelized we needed something for all the class to do over the summer Dr B had
recently arrived and was passionnte sboul the quality of the QEMS. We didn't talk about the course contént in detail. The pla was
1o bring them (DMI) in and they do the teaching. But no MEM facolly did any teaching Hogmann was reluctant to allow that,
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STATEMENT OF -__-__ TAKEN AT ATRH sco 201340/

9. STATEMENT (Contnusd) h o
even al our request, He did not slare & syllabnes with faculty, or students, 1 never received any powerpoint lecturss in ta potentially
teach the course.

). Did you taks the course?

A. No. [ weiched in the summer of 2012 sitting in the group a5 2 stedent. There were 3 proups of stedents that were sy lo
attend the OEMS Procedures Course 1o acl & TAs for their Clazs. Some weal to haly for his coursz (interjecting CO sates
"no, they went 1o Colorado™) but it became fuzzy whether the third graup was in Virginia o North Carolisa

Q. Whe is ultimately responsible for the scoountability of the studenis?

A, don't know how to answer that, The task orgenization is confusing, There is &n aczdemic Chain and a Millrary Chain, In
taditional military units the Banalion Commander would be responsible. Each service has o Company Commander who iz an
exwenzion of the commandant
(). Who cuts the Orders?

A1 am not cedtain, When the course is in MEM, like bushmaster we te, gut the
crders. | don't know wha cuts them for outside. My role in the summer experience pertatng to the Army. Each service has a
representative, | don't administrate the atlendance at the course. | would approve in an acidemic capaciry affinming that the course
i3 eppropriate for each Army medical student. However, the seloction for OEMS was dons withowt my input, even for Army

students. | received an e-mail message from [N 2nd ed for OFEMS. 1 then approved the remaining
Arny medical students summee experience. Then T send them ¥
) who is that?

A. He is an administrator, he and L7C [JRRIRRY arc the only ones with the authority to eater authorizations into DTS.
3 Did you know of the use of Alechol?
A. Mo, not until it blew up when the students came 1o me this suminer
0, Did you know of the use of Ketamine?
A Last year, 2012 when the course was done on campus with a larger group they did use ketamine an a (ew volunisers. Tt was micra
Jose which 1 hed not heard of and there was no alechal that | saw. L seemed appropriate to me Ttwas o paln eontealleagmitive skille
lab.
. [id you se2 a pretest given?
A. Mo, Ldid not
3. Did you bring this up with the depaniment for discussion?
A. | can"t rscall, we wers observers, MaJ [[ERES COL IR 41 of us were there ohserving. There were no formal discussions
about .
Q. Was informed consent used?
A, Mo,
(1. Are you aware of the AMA's policy on students practicing procedures on sach other?
A, No
1) Do yau know if the Univnlsity has o pulicy on this?
A. 1 do not know.
0. What other procedures were done in the 2012 OEM at USU?
F, IV's, II's, I00's, Repicnal anasthasia

. Were you aware of am initiative 1o withdraw seme volume of blood from studeats znd then manitor them for kypovoicmia and
thean mso transfuse their bioad back 10 them?
A. | saw that. Hagmann would never publish an agenda or schedule we never knew from day to day what was poing to be done. [t was
a frusrration for studonts and facully observers
|0, Did vou consides this procedure lo be 1no aggressive?
A1 would pet bave done it, but Hagmann has a long history of beinpg a eavalier EM physician. He is very confident.
0, Did you talk te other faculty as it pertains to this?
A, Mot until 2013 when we tnlked about the alternaive FTX 200 course, | wes not comforable with this procedure.
|, Why was this procedure allowed? Why didn™t you stop i1?
A. He had a comfort level beyond ours, He was compl=iely condident | would have beeo uncomforteble doing it
0 Why would you have been uncomfenable?
A. Becavse | had never done it before.
0. Who would have had responsibility for this occumence?
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STATEMENT OF TAKEN AT DATED

9. STATEMENT  (Continyed)

Q Does or did the department chair have any responsibility?

A. 1 can’t answer that, DM I was ronning a course at USU,

(2 Have you ever heard of this training before?

A I've hewrd of it in SPEC OPS but never have seen il

Q. Have you heard of faculty of students perpetuating an air of Secrecy about this course?

A. Live Tissue Training is very sensitive at USU and students were to be careful about discussing this. ) got the feeling this was
abusad by Hagmtann in order to protect the “beer fight".

Q Did you know that alcohol was heing used in the remote courses?

A. No, what happened al the offsite was very different than at USU, never any beer, penile blocks done here.

Q. Da you think students were placed in harms way?

A, Yes, now [ do,

Q Do you think the Univessity had a “spocial” relationship with Dr Flagniann?

A. | knew students had gone to OEMS for a number of years, The only thing special that I perceived about Hagmann was as USU
grad, he had 2 dedication to the university, J thought he was doing us a favor.

Q could it be said that he would have been given favors because he is john Hagmann?

A.Noe. I'had no hesitation lerminating the course or teliing Dr Hagmann to vacate the premises.

Q do you have anvihing else you would like to add?

A. Only that | am haunted and sickened about the polential students/victims of which | am unaware. I have traveled around the globe
wiihh flie Military und seen more evil than anyone should, When 1 came to USU as Faculty, | thought | arrived at the lvory Tower. |
have lost a lot of sleep this summer and shed more than one tear.
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Pre-Virginia
LSUHE & Environs

In the ren-up to the traming, 1t was repeatedly em phasized to us through afficial and unofficial
(studen: ] channels the Enportance of discoetion regarding the training to be conducted. First, tha
sensitive nature of LTT was eimphasized and we were discouraged from discussing that. Then, the
ketamine demonsiration was mentioned as sensitive and we were told that “the spring group nearly
icst OEMS becavse someone said somerhing about ketamine to the wrong person,” altiough we were
assured that our aclue school chain of command was aware of wiat was going on. The combination
of the general air of secrecy and the highly unurthodex nature of much of the training encauraged all
students to remain silert about every aspect of the course for fear of saying the wrong thing to the
WEORE person.

Virginia OFMS Site
B9071 Jor Swd Lone. Partlow, VA
(5 fuly 2013 - 6 July 2013)

Pegsannel presen

Dy n ¢, USUHS students, [ (R BB (+ P45 P). 2 Dutch Commandas
,one US SEAL

The traimng thal we began at Virginia was enorthodox, but inmany cases excellent. Even as
an experienced Spectal Forves mmedic, | had never been given the gpportunity to perform or recajve
intra-pssenus infusions, L had never seer: drugs like ketamine and morphine used on students in
demonstrations, and while procedures like foley catheters and arterial bload gasses were practiced
in hospital rotations, it was unusual o have the apportunity to practice extenstvely on ore anather
Additionaily, Dr. Hagmann's repudiation of traditional aseptic technigues and other unorthodox
approuches cven 1o cammon procedores [ike 1V's and cathetars left everyons without a baseline for
what eonstinuted “normal” tro; is conrext. Dr. Hagmann also reminded us an more than one
occasion that he was essentially providing this training o us for fres, out of loyalty to the school
This fuither discovraged us from asking questions lest we appear ungrateful. Thus an environment
was establishad where it was difficuit to tell what was "accepiable,” and simultaneously we were
discouraged (rom discussing anything with anyane [even, presumably, faculty 2t USUNS) for lear of
lasing out on eutstanding training.

It i5 also worth noting thot large coolers of bear were provided from the very beginning of
our time i VA, and toward the end of the first day (and on subsequent days) Ds. Hagmann
ennounced that “the beer light is on.” Wothing seemed sinister about this at the ume, and the
students generzlly appreciated being treated as professional adulis.

On G July, we executed the “cognition lab.” We first would underpo a cognition test of
memory and conceabration (suber), and then were to be given a quantity (1 recall *5 shots” 3oz bot
couldn’t swear wit 1Fweas ot least a large paper cup full) of bourbon to be drunk fairly rapidly
{again, | recall 20-30min, Hul wouldn't swear ta ir), with a repeated cognition test once the alcohol
had time to take effect. Al students regardless of sise were glven the same initinl quantity of alcobol,
andl given that it was “part of training,” there was considerable situational/peer pressure far all to
participate in “training”, even those who da not typically drink. We were told we would repeat this
experiment at high aititude i Colorado, both to learn the difference between our abilities at altitudo
andd perhaps as part of some sort of study an the effects of alcohol az altitude. However, when we
bugan drinking in VA, we were permitted {encouraged?) ta “chase” aur bourbon with beer of
unmeasy red quantity il desired, complately mvalidating the metkodology of any “scientific”
experiment. The class was extremely intoxicaied that night

The evening af 7 [uly we were relaxing ot the huts late in the evening wheon [ R .o
in, obviously a tittle Mustered. Barlier thar day, he had bean a subject for a foley cathetar
temonstration that had been complicated by difficully passing the catheter. He related that he had
beer asked to stev behind, late in the evening after trovning, and Or. Hagmaon had suggested that he

Initials:




get "chocked out” due to his difficulty with the catheter. [0 [ agreed o this, and he rolated that
he had permitted Dr. Hagmann to rake 2 histocy and perform a thorough genital exam and rectal
exam. [ [ cescribed being extremaly uncomfarable aboat tae rectal exam, as he sad g bad
gone on for a consideranle time perigd and it f=lt weird Lo be doing iz 1ate at night. alone.

also said that wpon completion of the exam, Dr Hagmann had said something to the offec: of 71 know |
viclated you a bittiere, would you like to do one on me?” This struck 2l of us as odd, but we al
wrate this ofl as another sxample of Dr. Hagmann's well-kaowsn willingness to offer hims=if up for
any training he asked of us. [ [ specifically roted that he nad eatd to Dr. Hagmann after the
exan thot the sitvation had felt strange and uncomfortable, and that in the future be should at least
have a chaperone present. Those ofuswho he:r‘ story all found it strange, but we
generally laughed it 0ff as quirky behavior on the partof Dr. Hagmann and “one of these things that
happens In the field” and encoureged BN EERN to do the same.

Leadville Colorado & Envirung
(% July 2012 - 215 fuly 2013)

Personngl present:

one US SEAL

i €id mot think pny more of this until 2 few days later in Colorade. [ was climbing to the hut with a
smali group of the faster dimbers on 9 July, and our student guide [EEIERENE (an APS? student
and former park ranger) made a comment ta the effect of: "the strangest thing happened last night:
L. Hagmiann asked me to stay behind after everyone had gone, and then he aslced (7! wanted tn
practice rectal exams with him," This shocked me after hearing my other friend's story, especially
piven tha had specifieally suggested thar Dr. Hagmann be more circumspect aboul such
procedures. turther, there was no medical justification in this imstance. | questioned B

for further detaiis, and convinced thar thiswas genuine | resolved to discuss this with [

the unofficial student leadership for the expedition. | brought [ DEEREE o EE who had
heard story, and he agreed that this was subject far concern and resolved to discuss this
with Dr. Hagmane at the next oppartunicy.

When L came timz for the “cognition 1ab® on the evening of 11 july, few were enthusiastc about
gerting drunk, as most were still recovering from the mild AMS indeced by our rapid ascent |
jokingly remarked to a fow classmates that | was considering "becoming Mormon far the evening.”
although | never really considered abstaiming from "raining.” ! can tell you that if | was mildly
reluctamt despite the fact that | deak with the sitiude and the previgus 2icohol 2xperimen: better
than many of my colleagues, | can only surmise that some smalier, less experienced, or move-
affectied-by-altitude classmates were probabiy much more reluciant than | was, but felt pressured
into parncipation. | downed my dose of bourbon lEke a man walking to his executioner, and then
particpated in the cognition tests, However, | think it iz Important to note that | never received any
report or comparison of my performance on the two tests, If this was actually training, why was the
maoral/lesson never completed? Further, any lesson (et alone “scientific” study of the issoe) was
hopelessly obscured by the shoddy methodciogy whereby the amoont of alcobol consumed was not
strictly controlled. | am Jeft with the impression that we were deliberately pushed into becoming
extremely intaxicated without valid educational or scientific objective. Howsver, Lhis realization has
only come after considerable reflection. Agam, lat me reiterate that in the contéxt of the other
unarthodox maining including the Ketamine demonstration, this dic not seem as odd to s at the time
25 it doas in retrospect.

Late [n the pvening on 12 July, sur group gathered for a demonstration of the effects of Ketamine. No
drinking rook place to my knowledge that evening. There was some question ns to whether we
would do the ketamine lab that day, as it was getting late. bur Dr. Hagmann expressed concern thar
the non-USUHS students who had paid for the course would miss out if we postponed the

Initials:




25 July, 2013

demonstration, the Duich commanda, was given a micro-dose of ketamine (supposed 1o be
I, but wound up 5Q} to demonstraie the intoxicating 2ffects of the drug. He was asked ko walk 2 line

ewed. and the experience was generally humorous and light-hearted. Following this, B

vas given kemamine and midazolam to illustrate the calming effects of adding midnzolam
to micro-dose ketamineg, ard also to show the suggestibilicy of 2 patisnt dosed with this combinazion
of drugs. While icberﬂud expressed reservations regarding the possibllivy of his receiving
a tibial intra-asseus infusion, which was known to be painful, but with the combination of ketanilne
and midazolam he was easily manipulated inta accepting the srocedure. 1tis my recollection that
there was never any real doubt in the room as to whether we would actually execute the procedure.
It seemed feiziy clrar (o all Invo! through traded winks and 50 oa) that no one serigosly
censiderad actually givinﬂnﬂ intra-osseus infusion for which he was unable to give
informed, unimpaired consent. | do not recall whether Dr. Hogmann specifically addressed the issue
as to whether we would really move forward with the proceduse, or whether this was purely a resalt
of the stedent grovp being uawilling 1o entertzin such #n inappropriste course of action.

Dr. Hagmann belt for the North Carslina procedures conese parly in the morningon 13 july, leavingus
the finad task of climbing Me. Elbert. Over the last few days, our enthusiasm for cimbing Mt Flbert
and Or. Hagmann's absence enabled me to set aside (temporarily) my concerns over the Dr's
behavior. We completed our inission and returned home to a few aays of vacation

Back at USUHS
{22 fuly 2013 = Present)

Beginming the advanced course at YSUHS a few days later, | let the matter of reporting Dr. Hagmann's
behavior fester as | considered what to do. On 23 July. | was training on nerve blocks with ‘

welio had nreended the training in Caralina with 5 other students. She ashed me out of the
biue what | thought of Dr. ilagmann, and | gave a noncomminal resporse. She procsedad 1o ralzza o
me a disturbing account of her time in the NC procedures course where, dering the Ketamine
demonstration. she felt the student was being coerced into accepting a procedurt (unclear (o me
whether it was a foley or penile nesve block, but involving genitals] that he had been reluctant wo
accept before being drugped. As noted earlier, 3 similar demonstration had been done with our
group to illustrate the suggestibility of & patienl dosed with ketamine and midazolam, but it was
understood in our group that no procedure was actualiy poing to take place. In her situation, she felt
that the student was actually going to be pushed into accepting the procedure, and stood up to Dr.
Hagmann refusing 10 allow events to move forward, She 2150 relatzd to me that
(present al beth our training site and the follow-on group in NC) had (eieted additional disturbing
derails whereby Or, Hagmann hai asked him inappropriate questions regarding his sexual habits,

These additicnal revelations ended my reluctence to come forward. Afier discussing it with [l
B | excused mysell from the roons and went to confer confidentially with the chaplain to
ensure that | was not "blawing things out of propoition” and to determing the appropriate course of
action given the fact that while ¥ probably had more information than any indbvidual, most of the key
events had notinvelved me directiy. The chaplain edvised that | report the matter to lung
wit udcnu if possible. | consulted with (5 [EEEN o o () (RN and immediately went to
§i P.Inni the w“ | messagodd [0 [N to secure his perinission 1 pass his contact

information on g ich he agreed to.

26!
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law ano Grder Ivrough invesligatian af complains and ineidents.

ROUTINE USES: Infzimation provided may be Lurther ciscigsed 1o fediesl, slale. local, ane foreigr povermment Imw eaforcemin]
AgencEmy. pIOSAsLIONS, Couns, ohel profechive sendced. vicims. wiinesses, ihe Deparfmant ol Valersns Alfars, and
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DISCLOSURE: Discloaurs af yaur &N and othur information o voluniony
1. LOCATION 2. DATE  (YYYYMMOD) |3 TME 4. FILE NUMIIER
[ AFRRI _ L 2oz | 1200 e
J!!- LAST NAME. FIHS | MAME, MIDDLE NAME 8. 350 7 GRADE/GTATUE
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5. ORGAMNIZATION OR ADDRESS T e e i 4= —

|Unifonned Services Liniversity
]

. A0 S0 L WANT T0 MAKE THE FOLLOWING 81 ATEMENT UNDER OATIH;

On the 2nd of Dctober 2013 1200hes | went 1o AFRR] o previde testimony to (:DI- at his request. He introduced
himself as the duly appainted investigation officer conducting an inguiry imo the administrmion and oparation of the DEMS

eourse. He showed me his guiding regulations and appointment letter by Dr Rice. He told me that the information provided would
be under cath and in 8 question and answer format. COL [JRI1ated that he would take notes and tanscsibe into a sworn starement
form and aftzr | had roviewed and edited the comtent | would bz stvvom in and sien the document. He stated that he had read my
slatement proviously provided and that T stiould sdd that o the sworn stalement a5 an aitachment.

3. Can you explain the wir of secrecy thal surrounded this course and who in the students or facully participatzd in this.

A can’t remember specifics of who said what, but a rumor existed omong the students 1o the efficel that while the CoCC was aware
of the ketamine lalbs, the spring covrse was jeopurdized when a faculty member who was not “resd in” heard about these activities,
and it coused political problems for the course that jeopardized the training. In combination, the sensitivity of LTT iraining had
besn emphiasized repeatediy by faceily both in the specific comext of OEMS and generally during the schoa! year. Additionally,
somme students from Lhe spring break group had expressed reluctance le Jdiscuss sone of the partieulars of th2ir iraining 50 as nol to
“ruin the surprise.” Thus, there was 2 general feeling that the training was best not discussed other than emoagst those in one’s own

student group.
Q Can ycu 1ell e who injected Ketaming or morphine into students?
A, | only wi wwo ketamine injections. The first was the Dutch commando Stefan, injected by the ather Dutch sommando

5 also injected, but 1 don’t recall wheo injected bim, Hogmann was present and supervising both injections.
Q. Were informed consents used?
A. There was no formal or writtzn consen process that | was aware of, but the pharmacolopy of the ketamine was discussed
extensively and so from that perspective the subject’s knowledge abont the drug, including its effecis and potential adverse effects,
was far greater than any patient would have received,
Q) Are you aware of the AMA policy on students praciicing procedures on each other?
A, | am aware that there is such a policy id haven't” read it
Q. When oid you become awarg olihis policy?
A Afier the completion of simmer training, in the context of subsequent discussions regarding the appropriateness of certain
prucedures in the DEMS course,
3. How did vou fnd ow?
A, | befieve the commandant mentioned it
Q. Did you know elooghol was being given as pan of the course?
A, o, mo? until the sourse
0 Had you spoken to anyone else, [ ERENEEN about this course
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® ETATEMENT (Covmuwd)

M. [ e spoken 10 aiher students about ihe course in penemlitics, bul had linle idea of what specifically 10 expect. Twat aware that

there would be numerous procedures that we would be doing on ona anather.

Q. The 6 July cognition lab, what ume did that occur?

A 1 can®t be sure but somewhere around 20-2100 hrs, It took place after durk, at the end of the training day,

L} Why that 1ime?

A1 de ngt Kaow for sure, There were many trelning Irreguiarities, We had to do same prep work for 2 trip to Colorado and the

OEMS eaurse For the lazger class, past of the "deal” for our training was we needed to do some work sorting medical supplies etc.

Q. The occurrence with [ B was very coacerning, can you tell me anything more about it, anything to add?

A. | Teel a sense of responsibility, in that | rationalized it eway and cven ried 1o coavince [ that it wasa't anything to worry

abous.

Q. Why do you think you did that?

A. Because | didn't wint 1o believe that a respected imember of this community, from his time as a Ychaner matyr™ (inmugural

LISLIHS class) ro a faculty member ko his work on the TCCC commitiee would be capahle of such inappropriate behaviar, [ aleo

placed great value on the teaining. and did not want to imagine that the person responsible for that training would alse behave in an

inppproprigle manner,

lo. How did [ Hagmann “offering hims=lf™" for an exam after he “violated" EEEEEIN pots intespreted by you or others?

A | fah that this undermined the legitimacy and professionaiisin of the encountcr, and enhanced my conzem. At the e, we
tempred 12 rationalize this as consisient with 2ig prior behaviors of willing to allow us fo practice on hino and show he was willing

to du everything he asked of us. However, in the context of this particular procsdere and the legitimate medica! concerns invelved,

this offer increased the feeling the: the encounier was inappropriate.

(3. Was any charting done?

A. 1 anm not aware ol any charting being done for the enccunter, but 1 was not present,

¢ Did [0 [ERRE ta 'k 1o Ur Hagmann (cegarding your cencerns)?

A, Mot te my knowledge

L) 15 he ready to talk to me abont this matter?

A. | den"tknow, and I'in nel sure it's my place (o speculate.

(). What were the Forgign Nationals and NavSeal doing duning the course?

A, We all rained 2 2 group

|2 Do you feel that Hagmann's reiaiionship with the university mads his behavior less suzpicious?

A, Yes, Hagmann's long history ot the school and standing within the community made us less [{kely 1o quesiion his behavior and

more likely to rationalize any unusual practices.

(). Do you kaow how he obtained the ketamine?

A, Mo

). Whar can you tell me about the applicamion for OEM

A. We were asked 1o fill out an application and give it o -rx Hagmann. T wrnie my application up fairly quickly afier

summer plans | kad didn't work out, 50 it could heve been betier. However, | was surprised that 1 wasa't even selected 5 an

lternate. That struck me as odd, 1asked around and was toid that it might have been becauze 180's in the past sometimes don't zo

wlong with the program, although another |80 and » SEAL were selecied for this course. | mentioned this situation to 550G

vhe had sean me teach in combat medic skills, and she couldn’t understand Hagmann's decision. Sle asked Hagmann why | hadn®

besn selecied, and Hagmann spoke with me and said 1 might be able 1o atiend the cowese {§ was made an aliermate) but that he didn't

really know why | wasn'i chosen. Either he didn®y know, or did not want 1@ el me the criteria for non-selection. That strack me s

preiy odd,

I} Do you think a student should be in that chain...the go between for Hagmann

A. 1 think students need mare substential leadership «w: at the school, and | do not sex that having a studeut mvolved

[in the process caused any problems Inde=d, 1 feel tha did an putstanding job coordinating the traizing on the student
side, especially in dealing with Hapmann®s unpredictakie znd sometimes cmarc behavior, T umn nol Sure whis role (if any) LUSUHS
faculry had in the selection process, but | believe faculty :-v..nl-g,hl would be appropriate for such a sel=ction process.

0. Anwthing else you wosld llke 13 add?

AL 1 feel thar ic's wonh expanding upon my comment above on Hagmann's ceralic and unprediclable pehavior. Unz remendously
difficult aspect of the course was Hagmann's unwillingness to provide training schedules or plans to us, the stadents.  He would
Yiustify keoping us in the dark regarding the training schedule by saying seinething to the effect of.
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B STATGMENT  (Continued)

il we knsw the sthedule, we would just screw it up more {paraphzase). This kept us off-balance and unsure of what io expect rost
afthe time, He tended to exhibit behavior wheichy be lavishiy praised individuals or the group one moment, and then viciously
eniticized the same not dong sfter. Additional odd behavior sccurred with regards to suluring. | was one of the studems who
voiuntsered 10 receive 8 TASTI sternal 1O infusion. The removal of this device requines making an incision around the tubing,
extending the Ingision down v the periestium, and then using needie drivers to remove the mstal tp of the device. This incisian
required o fow sutures, so | asked Hagmane if one of the studenis wha had never sulured on a Hive person could use this opportunity
Lo oot S actice. He accepted this sunestion, bul when it came time 10 suture and some of the prior medics slarted helping
ﬂu sew me up, Hagmann stormad aut of the room complaining that this would bo done poorly because of the influence
of SOCM medics snd that be coulén’t bear to watch. He repeated this behavior, particularly in the context of suturing. st other
poinis dunng the training. [ struck me as cxtremcly odd that rather the correcting any deficlencies in the student’s sutusing
technique, he complained about it and then chsented himself from the room. When 1 asked Hagrann about it directly, he
complained that SOCM medics don't listen ta him. However, | never observed any personnel present to be resistant io correction
or instruction ot any pai ok, with regards to suturing or any ather procedore, Hagmann®s behavior was botk tempermmenial, without
basis, and unprofessioanl.
I would like 1o point out that CDR [ SAPR irsining was a consideration s | deliberated the need to bring this siiation 1o
official atiention. | felt supported throughout the process by the Faculty in MEM and in pasticular COL BEE They reacted quickl
ard there is no doubt in my ntind that they felt our safety was paramount, They have helped us through this process, Chiplli_
has also heen very helplul: the anonymous setting was key. Studemts should eontinue to be reminded of the chaplain as u resource
for confidential consuliation,
1 would also add that while | recognize the nportance of identifying and addressing any systemic issues that enabled this situation
o occur, | hold vltimate respaasibility for this sitzalion solely upon Hagmann, [ believe USUHS community members might be
less likely 10 bring questicnable siivatiuns forward in the future if they felt concern that riends, colleagues, or trusted mentors
wiould be likely to suifer significant adverse consequences, even were they not primarily responsible for the situation., While |
secagnize that cerain breakdowns might potentially be identified during the course of this investigation that need to be remedied, |
believa the best rasull for the USUHS community will be achieved by focusing on improving institutionzl processes rather than by
attempting to assign culpabibiy to specilic Umiversity personnel,
Teake pride in the fact that unlike many other instituions in the news over the past few years, USLIHES Teadership at all levels, from
the initial awareness of the situation in the MEM depariment 10 the deans, President Rice and bevond, has consistently placed the
well heing of the conumanily ahead ol worries of persanal career or potential scandal. [t wauld be my hope that such courage will
be recognized and factored into any comcluesions drawn by this investigation,
NOTHING FOLLOWS

AFFIDAVIT
L _!- E— p= , HAVE BFAN OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME Till5 STATEMENT
WHICH BEGING ON FAGE 1, AND ENDS ON FAGE _;i_ | FULLY UHDFERSTAND THE CONTENTS DF THE ENTIRE STATEMONT MARE
BY ME THE STATEMENT IS TRUE | HAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE MITIALED THE B0TTOM OF EACH PAGE
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT, | HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WIT
THEEAT CF PUNISHMENT, AND WITHDUT COERCION, UNLAWFUL INFLUCNCE

{Sigm of Fersan Maring Stalamont)
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During the Virginia phase of the Altitude Medicine course provided by DM} | was given a foley catheter
by a student. The procedure was difficult and the celastex cathetar was unable to pass into iy bladder.
Dr. Hagmann taok over the procedure and was not able to insert the celastex catheter, but was able ta
insert the latex catheter. He approached me in private about a focused history and physical exam. |
askad about a digital rectal exam. He puiled me aside that evening at about 2230 at night and performed
a focused history and physical exam while we were alone. The physical exam included examination of
my penis and testicles. He proceeded to instruct me on the digital rectal exam. The exam took longer
than expected and made me uncomfortable, His fingerwas inserted into my rectum for fonger than |
would have preferrad. Afterward he asked if | wanted to perform a digital rectal exarn on him. 1 told him
na and informed him that | didn’t think it would be wise to perform such exams in the future during the
course without a chaperone.,
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MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBITCT: Operational Eovionmental Medicine Skills (OEMS) course concemns and NCIS
mierview re: imappropniate doulty-siudent coninet

i, On 24 July 2013 a approximately 1600. COL stopped by my office w tell me
ihat they had a situation in the OLMS course. He mnformed me that there had been what

appenred 10 be 4 serivus § opriate laculty-student interaction between Dr. John Hagmann
and possibly another event involving an HPSP student.

andl Ml W
. The class was scheduled 10 mect 2t 0800. | was decides that the class woui
be tevmizaned, Dr. Plagmena would be informed of the cancetlation by COL [l and the OGC al
0730, and asked (o deave the University NLT noon of that day and escorted while en campus,

All studenis were to be interviewed by selected members ai the Dean™s stadT and the d75M
dapariment vzing a wotpdate devchopal by Ma) IR it icred the opporiunity o make g
stalemient.

o i‘:i'li'.'ﬁ‘u!”l’.'i'\:_:.i: e ballwasy @ shot while fater, e seeaned iroublel, and

we talked boeliy. 172 told me thit, a5 semeone Trom the 5§ communty. be Tully yndersiond
unorthodox training. but that what was happening in OLEMS scemed om ol contrwl. He then oid
me aiout having everyone drink 5 shots of bourbon. purpertedly (o witness the impact of
alcohol. but then not cellecting or reviewing any performance data 1o evaluate impact. [t seemed
1o hims that the only 2oal wis o gel evervone impaired. He eited a “Lord of the Flies™
atmesphere ot the offsite, and how they were repeatedly insieucted not o tell anyone (even LISU
personnel) abour ihe taining. e said that the atmosphere of seercey reminded him of the
trnining ! had previded 1o the class abow predatory and grovsuny behavior, and how by not
ieponting problems they persist and tend 1o goi worse. At the same time, he was cenilicied
because he was also concerned about the Joss of impariont traininy by coming lforward, | assured
him thiat the MEM Dept would ligure out the training prece and find 2 vay te get them the
waining they need. and that be had done the rinhi ting by (alkig wilh vs

4. | bneled C'u— Brigide Commander and i.':'{“ Brgade 1AG
shortty alter the mecting in the Dean's efiice to Inform them ol the plan o acien. | strongly

recommended to cach of them thay NCIS should be contacted a5 oo as possible. They
concurred, pmd NCIS waos ealled g short while laser. Ay 1015, NOTS Sopcial Ao

urrived and was bricled by Col aned mysell. We then contacied TIC ugreed o
meet with NCIS.




5. At 1100, IEDERRE vas intarviewed by Special Agent [l With his concurrence, | was
present for the interview. (IR B was completely cooperative during the interview, and SA
B ssked many clarifying questions 10 ensure that she had a complete picture of the events.

Sununary of testimony: [ IBRRN stated that on 6 July, he was participating in the OEMS
course at the off-site location (“The Ranch") near Fredricksburg, VA with epproximately 15
other students. Afler lunch, they began practicing inserting Foley catheters into one another. Tt
was o mixed gender group, but catheters were not inserted into females. He was third, and his
classmate was unable to pass the Foley into his bladder. The instructor, Dr. 1lagmann, assisted
with inserting & different type of catheter (latex), which did ultimately go through. Dr. Tagusann
approached him Jater that aftermoon and supggested that he should be medically evaluated to
determine the r2ason for the difficulty. Afier dinner, the stedents were drinking beer. [ SR
states that he had two beers and had just started a third when, at approximately 2230, Dr.
Hagmann approached him privately and supgested that he should examine him to sort oul the
reason for the obstruction. [EEERH was concerned that he had a medical problem since he was
the only studeni who had difficuliies with the Foley, and agreed to thie exam. Dr, Hagmann
performed a very thorough penitcurinary exam, and then performed a rectal exam with [l
I face up on the table. The exam seemed 1o be prolonged, and made the student extremely
embarrossed and uncomfortable. Dr. Hagmann explained all parts of the exam in great detal! as
it was performed, which seemed 1o prolong the process. At the conclusion, Dr. Hagmann stated
that he would et [ [BRH do a rectal exam on him since he had “violated™ him. (50 R
hastily declined, and left the room. At no time did he ask Dr. Hagmann 1o stop, and he states that
ke did not feel forced or cocrced into coopaiating. He also was aot intox:cated at the time of the
event. For these reasons, SA [RAM felt that a felony was not comimitted. She explained her
1easoning to us, and that she would be filing a closed report that would document the event and
flag Dr. Hagmann in the computer system, bul would not trigger further legal action.

6. Afier the interview with SA [l | spoke with (S0 B privately. [ assured hin tha the
events that took place were indeed unethical and inappropriate, but that they were not his fault
and that coming forward the way he did wok tremendous courage. He seemed conflicted, in that
he was concerned that other students would miss out on important training from the carcellation
of the OEMS course, but also that cther students could be subjected to such inappropr;

contact. [ strongly recommended that he seck counseling from Dr Dr“in the
Student Mental Health Center, which he agreed 1o, and aiso ensured that he knew how to reach
me and asked that he reach out if he needed help.

7. 1 briefed Coll[filland LTC [RNERNIRN on the results of the NCIS interview later in the
day. [ also provided an anonymous overview of the cancellation of the OEMS course due to
nappropriate faculty-student contact to my military CMD staff with instructions to keep an eyc
on the students, and if one 15 having trouble to ensure that they are quick to refer them to Student
Mental Health.
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E. On Fri, 26 July at approx. 1100 R came 1o my office with a written
statement and wanting to talk with me about OEMS. She 10ld me about an event that occurred to
her group at the North Carolina site during which everyone was told 10 drink large quantities of
liquor (approx. 8 0z}, many people drank additional beer and then some were adininistered an
unknown quantity of ketamine. They were then lo practice penile nerve blocks on the students
that had been given ketamine. She refused to participate and would not let the procedure be
performed on a classmate who was significantly impaired, since she felt that he was noi in any
condition to conscnl. She 10ld me that students felt obligated to participate in these procedures
and that there was a lot of pressure to go along with them, at least in part because Dr. Hagmann
would call them “pussies™ i they did not suomit to them. She wanted to clean up her statement
and agreed to send me a copy that [ could use for investigative purposes iater in the day.

9. Just before hunch, T checked in with COL. [l who provided me a copy of a wrirten siatement
by [0 (S0 (R 1 addition Lo what was described by [ RN and 2™ Lt [[RERH this
statement reinforces the uimosphere of secrecy, the required consumption of alcohol and the pon-
medically indicated use of ketamine. It also adds the use of midazolam and the offer by Dr.
Hagmann to an HPSP studen to “practice rectal exams”. [0 ESIM agrecd to let me use his
statement for investigative purposcs, and is willing 1o talk with investigators as neaded.

10. Conclusions as of COB 26 July:

a. Inappropriate facolty-student contact teok plave betwsen Dr. Hagmann and Lt [Fnd]
While NCIS did not find that the contact rose (o the level of felony assault, conducting a
penitourinary and prolonged rectal examination without a chaperone at 2230 on a
Saturday night after providing beer to a student is without question inapproprinte.

b, Dr. Hagmann is also alleged to have attempied a second instance of inappropriate faculty-
student contact with an HPSP student approximately | week later at another location.

¢. Anatmosphere of coercion and secrecy was established, where students were bullied
and/or incapacitated into participating in activities tlvat they otherwise would not have
engaged in w include procedures such as penile blocks and interosseus infusions.

d. Procedures that were being performed on one ancther during the OEMS course far
exceeded the stated scope of the course,

e. Alcohol conzumption to the point of intoxication was required as part of an academic
course, and freely provided by the instrucior throughout the training event.

f. Students were endangered when ketamine and possibly midazolam were administered in
conjunction with high doses of alcohol, without medical indication or medical
monitoring.

9. POC for this meixirndum is the undersigned CDR [0 [ERREN -nr

DR, MC, USN
Commundant, SoM
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From Juiy 13"-20" 2013, a group of students, mduding myseli were partizpabing in OEMS trsiming in Pk F4,
Nerth Carclina at Dr Hagmann's compound

We ware iaught and praci:ced several medcal proceduras, including but not iimited to: nerve blocks (posterior
tibial, digitai, median, axial, fernoral). iv. wocess, lfemoral and radizgl artenal blood gas, Foley cathaterization
and interasseous access. Al of these pracedures were practiced on each other (classmaies) on @ volunteer
basis, Dr Hagmann voiunteered himself for ali of these procedures, He said he wouldn't ask us to do a
procedure on g student that he wouldn't have done on him,

The day we practiced Foley catheterization we taiked aboul the procedure watched a video on the process,
and then practiced on each othar. The process staited with Dr Hagmann volunteering to be the first subject,
with me placing fthe catheter, because Dr Hagmann said he thought the men In our class were pussies and ha
didn't think they would voluntesr, At that ime, one of my classmates, rot wanting to be thought a "pussy”
volunteered to be the first person to receive a catheter. All four men in our group received a catheter, some
twice so everyone could practice, Later in the week a girl in our group velunteered to have a Foley cathetor
placed so the group could see the difference in the procedure on a woman versus a man,

On the evening of the 19", Dr. Hagmana intiated a training exercise to evaluate how our coghitive abilities are
compremised when we consume alcohol. Sometime between 2100-2200 we were each given 8 0z of 80 proo!
rum, ard two of our team decided to consume an additional 4 ounces each

Before we drank Ihe rum we were given a cognitive test involving short term recall of various things like
numbers in & sequence and delails in a short story. We then drank all 8 o 12 ounces of rumin 10 minutes or
less. Twenty minules after that, we were given the same type of lest with different details (words, numbers).
The tes! was collected and scored.

Not more (than an hour after the test was finished, [ Hagmann told us anyone who wantad 1o feel the effects
of ketamine could receive an injection, I'm not sura of the dosage. 1t was described to us as a traming
exarcise, so we would be aware of either how il felt to be on ketaming, or as practitioners what we should
expect from our patients who are given the drug for pain.

Two mermbers of our team (students) recenved the ketamine injections initialy. Two more wouid follow, Of the
first lwe who received the first doses of kelamine. One person had a negalive psychological reaction (o the
ketamine and began crying. This person was given alivan in an effort 1o calm her down. She went to bed
shorily therealter, The olher person became nausecus almost immediately. This person starled dry heaving,
this progressed to vomiting.

After a few minutes, 1 became aware thal Dr. Hagmann and one of my classmates were discussing a medical
procedure, | realized Lhey wanted to perform a penile block on miy classimale who was currently under the
influence of alcohol and ketamine, | teld Dr. Hagmann and my classmate that | didn't think it was appropriate
to perforin a penile nerve block on someone who was not in a condition to give consent. My classmate
became angry with me and told me the person in question had szid he would allow us to perform medtcal
procedures on him "once the ketamine kicked in."

| made it clear that | didn'l hear this statement and i dion't matter anyway, because | wouldn't allow them to
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perform @ penie block on a student that was incapgacetated and vomiting le a bucke! | befieve if he gid
conseant o receive a penile norve block, it was after he drank 17 ounces of rum. | zsked the studem who was
eneer the influence (now from rum and ketaming) (f he had agreed Lo lins procedure and he said they
understood we resced to learn, bul seemed hestant | agan exprassed my objeshion to allpw 3 magical
procecwe lo be performad on a3 sludent who was unger Ine influenze of alcohol ana ketaming, and 1o be
performec by a student who was also undar the influence of alcohol. | received a negaive respense from my
classmate, Dr. Hagrrann said nothing

At that poinl | was frustrated and { 12t the room to changs inte my pajamas and brush my teeth, When | was
in the tedroom changing, | kaand Dr. Hagmann say, *1t doesn't matter, if she -sn'l comfortatle with this, we
can't do I," and my classmate rapted, "You know whal's funny, now that she's not in the room we can't do
1 | left the bedroom o brush my leeih, checking oa my incapacitated classmate in the process, Whis |
was brushing oy teell: one of my classmates come inlo the bathroom ard (oid me he thought | was right, that
it wasn't ok 1o perform IS procedure. i felt wrong Lo himtoo, but he dign’l know wnal to do o say, Anotter
classmete also approached me and told me he fell 1ne situation wasn'l goad, and he wouldnt have aliowed it
to progress any luithar than it did, had | no! spoken up

After i finished getling ready for bed | went back inte the iving reorn and sat next to my inebriated classmate.
| asked rim if he was ok and if there was anything | can do for him. | got nim water and sat with him. He then
thanked me for being there for hum, he was glad to have sormeone speak up for him, He said it the situation
were reversed he wouldn't lzave me alone with them either, indicating my classmates and Dr. Hagmann. The
raxt day when we were talking in the car about what had happened the mght before, this same classmate told
us, "l was in no condition to be making decisons for myseli.”

That night, as | was talking with my classmate, Dr. Hagmann volunteered o 1et my other classmates do the
pznile nerve block on him They did. | refused to watch or parlicipate. | helped my classmate get comfortahbie
on the couch and he fell asleep. | put him in the recovery oosition with the hzlp of one of the other students
there. | checked on my other classmates who had already gone to bed, and put the person who received
aleonel, ketamire, and atvan in the recovery position. | left them alone and went back to the living room.

Laler that nignt, two more students were given ketamine.  This was now about two hours after the last alcohal
irtake, One student said, before ne was given ketamine, thal once the katamine Kicked in he didn't care if the
othet classmates in the room performed a penile nerve block on Aim. He received an IM dose of ketamine,
and a few minutes later, raceived a penile nerve block. He was cbviously intoxicaled for approxmately an
hour, untii hie went to bed.  The fourth student was also intoxicated and asked me to stay up with him, He
received three doses of kelamine that night | stayed up with him urtil he f2lIi ready o go to bed arouna 0245,

If anycne needs anything 2ise, let me know

Vit
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o
EriRYralroaval , WANY TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNOER QATH:

On 1 October 2013 1 reported 1o the AFRRI building at approximately 1055 hrs. to mect COL avide testinony

regarding the operation and adminisiration of the Operational Emnergency Medicine Skills course. COL et me in the lobby

and escorted me (o the conference room, He introduced himaelf and stated that he way the duly appointed investigating officer o
leok into matters as stated shove. He showed me the 3 regulations that guide these investigations as well as the appointment letter,
e stated that the testimony would be under oath but that it would be in a question and answer formal and that he would take notes
and then lranscribe onto @ swom stalemeant fier 1 had the opportunity to review and edit them. He stated | would be sworn in
prior to signing the official statement, COI ted that he had received o copy of the email that | had written about the OEM
course and that | eould include that as an sitachment to the sworn statement.

0 How were you selected 1o attend the OEMS course in NC?

A It was an option siven 1o the entire class. We had ro wrile o response to lwo guestions thar | believe wene written by Dr Hagmann.
My response was sent to [ IR and then to Dr Hagmann who would make the selection. [ was wair-listed.

0 What were the twp questions?

A 1 don't quite remember, They were generic questions

Q. Could you remember anything abaut them?

A. No, but | have a copy of them samewhere, | can forward them to vou if you'd like.

Q. What corriculum regquirement did this course fulill?

A It was for our surmimer operational experience requiremert. 1t fulfilled my SOE, and then [ was o use what | had learned there 1o
be a teaching assistant here with the rest of the ciass when they ook OEM.

Q. What was your understanding of the funding for this elective and were you on orders?

A1 never received orders i 1 know of, Funding, 1"m not sure aboui. 1 just Biled out the forms and temed them in, 1 thought that
the course was “gifted™. A form was sent out and it had something nbauws funding in it and we needed to sign it to participste. | don®t
Enoww what it was | just signed 1 oand tumed it in,

(. There were procedures practiced on volunleers, was informed coasent obtained?

A. Net that | know of

Q. Are you aware of the AMA puidance on sindents practicing on each other?

A. Mo,

Q. Was sterile procedures followed?

A. | always wore gloves, | don't know about anyone clse. As far as [ knyw they did.

Q. What was the environment of education like, where some wers calied “pussies” and procedures were performed by students on
faculy?

AL That all siarted earlier with a group discussion about Live Tissue Training (LTT) and procedures, prior 1o placing Foleys, We
watched videos of males petting Foley's with and without lidocaine. Dr Hagmnnn's motte i3 'no pain” which all stemmed from
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itis experience as 8 resident when be did wn arienial blood gas on a patient without ancsthiesia and it was very painfil, While we were

discussing thie, we somehow got on the topic of LTT. 15aid ] felt the pig Jab at USUHS was wasteful, in that throwing the pig away

fier a fow procedures was a waste. It was still warm and has anatomy that is very similar 10 2 human's. ! felt there were other

procedures or dissections we couid have done before we disposed of the pigs. Hagmann was offended that 1 perhaps didn't

appreciate LTT {1 found this out later). Hagmann volunteered to bave the Foley placed because he said our male classmates were o

bunch of “pussies” and that no-onc would voiuntezr to po first. | was picked to parfomns the procecure by Hagmann hecause of the

conversation we hud about LTT, [ got the feeling he was trying 1o cmbarrass me by not providing all of the instruction needed to

perform it successfully, The procedure was tricky because the Hidocaine makes it difficult to grasp the penis. [t seeped out of the

urethra once J injected it, and my gloves were covered with it. | realized 1 needed to change my gloves and I asked 2 classmate for

help. Dr. Haggman said “What are vou doing? Why ase you daing that?" | explained to him thar 1 needed to change gloves in order

to coplete the procedure, Afler we were finished, he stated that e “loves to wateh the first person do this™ he gaid 1 eall it
asing the penis” bécause everyone has such a hard fime grasping the penis once it is covered in lidocine. He told me it was 1o

teach me the value of LTT, that it was one thing to talk about placing a Foley, and it was another to acwally do it, and the concept is

the same for LTT,

Q. Was this kind of instruction unusual? Did you feel boundaries were beinp violated because students performed procedures an

Faculty?

A. [ wasn’t looking forward 10 1t. In the end I didn't volunteer to have one placed on me, | wasn’t comfortuble with it. 1 was relieved

when a student volunteered 1o go first as the patient so 1 didn't have to place a Foley on Haggmann.

§Q. Were you aware that consuming aleohol was part of the training?

A. No.

Q. When did you find out?

A. That day.

Q. [nd vou speak 10 any classmates, the ones in Virginia, about this?

A. That course was going on at the same time, they left VA and went to CO. They were still in CO when we Teft for NC. [ didn’t

Jhave the chanes to talk with them about the waining.

Q. Were you told to not speak about this?

A. I don’t believe so.

Q. Why was this training conducted at 2100-2200 HRS? '

A. While we were there for troining, Air Force Combat Controllers were also there raining separately, They did not participate in

our course, they had their awn elasses, mostly on tourniquets, how to stop arterial bleeds, NPAs, and they watched an Interosseous

fplacement. A 1ot of our training was put on hold and we did it at night after their classes were done. We were told the third class n

NC was started so those of us on the waitlist could participate, and the combat controllers could have their ttaining as well,

(2. The Combat ControHers siept in the same quartess with you?

A. Yes, in the same house. We had separate bedrooms. We were there essentially as his staff to help run the house, make

breakfast, lunch, dinner, clean, and help with the classes. We prepared (ke house for the next class after the AF guys feft. When

we [mished that, we could proceed with further raining, including the female Foley procedure. One female volunteered for this.

ch also practiced the other procedures we learned previously.

(2. What was said abeut consuming the § ounces of alcohol?

A. He told us that be did it with the Colorado group to geuge how alcohol affected them at sea fevei and at altitude, He said we

could do semething like that, thouph we obviously wouldn't be at altirude, we could still sea how alesho] affeets pur cognitive

ability. He was interested in how it would compare between the two sites. We were also interested in it the expariment and in

being abie to see how alzshol affected our reasoning. A pretest was donz (remembering a serious of words, numbers, so on) and

we consumed § oz of $0 proot rum over 10 minutes (we were timed). Two students consumed |2 oz, W waited 20 mins and

retook the test (diffecent numbers, words).

Q). Where did the Xetamine come fram?

A. Hagmann’s supply, he had medical supplies all over the house.

Q. The administration of ketamine heppened afier the consumption of aleokol?

A Yes.

Q. Were you imoxicated?

A. 1 had 8 oz of alcohol, § would assume yes

Q. Did vou receive ketamine?
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A. Na, | wouldn®t do it

1. Whao administered the ketarine?

A, I don't know, toward the end of the night | saw 1wo people give it, Hagmann drew it up and gave the syringe 1o the atudents jo give
it 1o ench other. Oiher than that 1 am not surs,

E Did you see Dr Hagmonn administer ketusnine

A. Mo 1 saw ham drew it up in the syringe,

wrdent wha began crying after odmiistration of Ketamine,
A he was the first to get katamine,
€. gave her i Aljvan?

A 1 don't know, De Hagreann dreew it up. | was sitfng and talking with another classmate when she received the Ativan
X krow who would know whe gave it to her?
A Hlighl. she woke up the next day feeling like “1 know nothing bad happencd bu it fecls hke 11 did™.
3. Who was the classinate conversing with Dr Hegmann sbout doing a penile block un an incbriated student?
A Tuel like T'm violating the privacy of this person, 1 don’t want 1o give their name. | could talk to them to see if they would talk 1o
fvou,
Q. Do you feel you are being ostracized because of your standing up to D¢ Hagmann during the course?
A. No.
2. Did any of your classmntes speak up on vour behalf afier the initial cancelation of the course?
A Not that | know of. | Belt like everything started to go hack to normal when the rest of the class came back and the announcenen
was made that DCIS had (eken aver the investigation. | ateo think it helped that [ BRI and | were obviously on the same level
with all tnis, and he has been very supportive since this all happened.
10. All of you Fived in ithe same house?
A Yes, it didn'l feel sirange we lud all hived ogether in the field excreise.
Q. W the studen? thal received 3 doses of ketamine
M.
How did the pesile bleck procedure become chosen as a peeded OEM procedure?
A. [ don't know, | don’t even know what brought up that discussion.
.5 there an air of secrecy aboult this putside course?
AL wns not given that impression that we couldn't talk about this course, Mostly it was the LTT because it is a charged subject. !
wanted 1o send a picture of ae 10 1o my husband and asked Hagmann and it was ok with him.
) Were students placed in harm's way?
A. Mol intenticnally, | don’t believe the stafT at USU would have allowed us 10 go if they thought we were poing into a bad
environment.
Q Didl you ik ww any clssmates who had been in the Virginia course?
A, Mol bafore we left for NC.

0 What was discussed int he way back from NC?
A. What our experience id he didr’t have 2 problem with the ketamime, felt fike: he wasn't im control of himseif,

The night of the incident, sald he ficht like ke was watching the world in "vine™.

Q Would vou like to add anything else?

A. L don't feel anvone ot the nniversity who sel this up knew who Dr Hagmane 5. We bad a class 2 week before the OEM was
jcancelled and Dr Hagmann was here and he was differeat, very sirict. I've come azross people like him befure. During the day he's
|<m< person, ol night [away from work and his peers] he's different. | hold ro ill feeling toward USLT or any faculty, the only way |
L

MO

ould was if the matier wasn't investigated or if | felt it was swept under the mig,
THING FURTHER
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UNIFORMED SERVICES UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCFS
ARMED FORCLS RADIOBIOLOGY RESEARCH INSTITUTE
B901 WISCONSIN AVENLIE, SUILDING 42
BETHESDA MARYILAND 20R83.5500

AFRRI-MMO 70CT 2013

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD
SUBJECT: TELEPHONE INTERVIEW WITH [l A (FEEEE
1. Reference: Appointment as Investigating officer dated 13 September 2013

2. Purpose: To provide information 10 the President of the University regarding the
administration and operation of the Operational Emergency Medicine procedures
course operated by Deployment Medicine International and Dr. John Hagmann.

3. Format: This MFR will be typed in a question and answer format. It will be reviewed
for accuracy and truthfulness by [N [ERNEANERY It was provided without
coetcion and is true and factual.

4. On this date at approximately 1300 I contacted [N [EESEAN on his personal Phone. 1
introduced myself as the duly appointed investigating officer charged with
looking into the administration and operation of the Operational Emergency
Medicine course. 1 informed the [l that | had interviewed a number of
individuals who corroborated statements that he had made to COL [l and
others.

QQ Can you tell me your full name

A. [0 o]

Q2LT would you tell me the dates and locations for your recent

rotations with Dr Hagmann and the DMI courses

A. July 5™ 2013 1 arrived in DC at Regan International Airpost and was picked up

at the airport by Dr Hagmann and a DMI employee named DJ. We drove to “The

Farm” near Fredericksburg VA and [ stayed there until the 9 of July 2013, I then

flew to Colorade arriving on the 9™ and departing on the 15™ of July for North

Carclina where [ stayed until the 21% I then returned to Missouri for classes.

Q. How was all of this paid for?

A. Dr Hagmann paid for the Mlights. -

Q How did this come to pass?

A. I’ve been aware of QM for a number of years, and I began emailing Dr.
Hagmann in the fall of 2012. He offered me a spot in one of his courses in the winter of
2013. It quickl]y became apparent that all costs were covered.

Q. What did you think about this?

A. 1 did think it was a little bit odd, I was formerly an EMT with the sherift’s
department. However | had heard of Dr Hagmann’s personality before, I knew that he
was 2 bit different and that he paid for USU students. So in that respect it didn’t feel that
unusual. When I arrived it became clearer that [ would be doing tasks for Dr Hagmann. ]

1




carvied medixal gear in my personal baggage from Colorado to North Caroline, No
Medicines, but catheters, needles, 10 infusion sets.
Q. How did vou know that therg was na medication?
A. Because | had packed the bags myself, 1 suppose medicine could have been put
in them I wasn't in control of them all of the time prior to leaving for the airport.
Q. Do you know how the kelamine was ranspored?
A. 1 only saw the drags in Dr Hagrnano’s persooal medication bag.
Q. Were there any other medications?
A Versed and Diamox
Q. Did anybody take Diamox?
A, Yes, we took it as prophylaxis. We made a pretty big jump fiom VA to 11K
Teed during the course of one travel day; some of the students were showing signs of acute
nmountajn sickness. The students showing sipns of AMS were given it as well as some
students in the course as prophylavis. We were also told, sort of that, “its like an
experiment, we can see how we feel”. We slept at 11Kk feet and sunynited to 14k one
week later. In between we slept at between 10K and 11K feet. Some mghts were in the
hut and some in tents higher up. Dr Hagmann dispensed the Plamox.
. You were left at the DMI facibty in VA by vourself with Dr Hagreann, can
tell me what happened.
A, It was the evening of July §” and we had already packed for the trip to CO.
The nsu students, the pavy seal and the 2 Dutch yuys bad left. All of my
flights were with Hagmann, so we were the last at the facitity, We made
dinmer at the hut and 1 had two beers and Hagmann had a few. During this
tune we talked about our pasts, our eXperiences.
Q. Did any of these conversations make you uncomfortable?
A, Yes, | brought up that ] had previously worked at a homeless shelter doing
some exams; be brought up his techuigues about sectal exams. My essentaliv
boasted about his profictency with them, This was out of context 1 feel. We
contineed drinking beer and then he suggested that we practice additional
procedures. We drove to the “warehouse” where we bad previously done
procedures when the other students were there during the didaciic portion of the
course. Dr. Hagmann suggested we film the procedures as additional training
matexials and so he could use the videos in future lectures, They were filmed on
my iPAD but ] stiil have them, he didn’t ask for them, so I think now that they
weren’( really for wraining, [ did a femoral blood gas on him, it is filioed, he
dropped his pants and al some polrt before that procedure. After the femoral ARG
he asked if T would do a focused pelvic trauma exam on him, for training
purposes, and he would tatk me through it. T think you can see beer cans on the
table during this video clip~ we were both still drinking, So, this exan included
squeezing the tip of the Penis to evaluate for blood aud a rectal exar. for blood as
well, Al of this is on the video.
Q During all of these procedures snd exams both of you continued to drink
aicohol? :
A. Yes, before the course began Dr. Hagmann and | had gone 1o the store to buy
food for the course, Dr Hagmann bought essentially a shopping cart full of beer.
Q. What happened after the focused pelvic ¢xam?




A. The line of questioning became more suspicious. He knew that I was
uncircumcised because I had previously received a Foley catheter from another
student. Dr Hagmann asked me if being uncircumcised changed the way 1
Imasturbate, or what effect did it have on how I had intercourse. He then asked if
he could take pictures of my Penis during various stages of manipulation of the
foreskin, again 10 use as a training aid. 1 was fairly inebriated at this point and 1
aiso felt that I couldn’t call him out on it without losing out on the rest of training,
So. [ agreed fo Jot him take the pictures. He used his small blue camera,

Q Did you sce him take pictures of other students during the course?

A. Yes, he took some pictures during the course to use as training aids later on.
There was an unspoken rule that students weren't to take pictures during the
course.

Q. Did you see Dr Hagmann injecting Ketamine into students?

A. He drew up the doses but 1 didn’t see him inject it. He would select students to
do that.

Q Did you receive Ketamine

A. No, [ was instructed to give it. 1 ml then followed by a dose of Versed.

Q Did everyone ger versed?

A. No, only those that have an anxious response to the ketamine, it's a
disseciative agent and some people become very anxious,

Q. So who did you give the versed t0?

A. I can look it up, a female, the only army female in North Carclina

Q. Had you been drinking while giving these injections?

A. Yes, all of us had been. It was part of the “cognition lab”. It was supposed to
be a standard amount of alcohol, 8 0z of 80proof rum consumed in 10min. We
were told it was a comparison to the same process that had been done at altitude
in Colorado and in VA, After the consumption of alcohol we waited 20min and
then retook a mental cogniticn exam that we had taken prior to the alcohol. We
followed the same procedure in VA before the HPHA course and in CO at the hut
at 10K feet.

Q. Were you ever told not 1o speak of what had happened at these sites?

A. Some students and Dr. Hagmann all generally spoke of not distributing
pictures we may have or of discussing things. “Keep things under wraps” so as to
not lose out on any opportunities for others to train.

Q Had you spoken to any other students about this course previously?

A Yes. Dr. Hagmann's courses were well respected in the medical community for
their training value. There were some rumors that something had gone on in
England the year previously which placed me on edge.

Q. Are still jonship with a student here at the University?

A. Yes

Q Did she participate in the OEMS Course in England in 20127

A. Yes, she related a story 1o me recently (hat a2 student bad declined to have a
Foley placed but then had Ketamine and agreed and some students said that
giving him the Ioley while under the influence of Ketamine isn’t right. Dr
Hagmann said “give it to him anyway”. I'm not sure ifﬂaw this happen
personally or if she was told it had happened by another student who was there.
Q Do you have anything else to add?
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